STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

05-02-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 18AP258-CR (Walworth County Case No. 2014CF215)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN S. FINLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Motion, Both Entered In The Circuit Court For Walworth County, the Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Ellen Henak State Bar No. 1012490 Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803

HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 North Milwaukee Street, Suite 535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 283-9300

Counsel for the Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In determining whether a confession is voluntary under the totality of the circumstances, courts weight the pressures police use to induce a defendant to confess against the personal characteristics of that defendant. Whitewater Police Officers used complex questions, the introduction of misinformation, minimization, and other psychological pressures of the Reid Technique in questioning John Finley, who was suggestible, had significant intellectual limitations, and was physically ill. Did the admission of Mr. Finley's statement as evidence at trial violate his state and federal due process rights not to be coerced into confessing?

Prior to trial and prior to the trial testimony of Dr. David Thompson concerning Mr. Finley's suggestibility, the circuit court, the Honorable David M. Reddy presiding, denied a motion to suppress Mr. Finley statement. The circuit court, the Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan presiding, denied a postconviction motion raising the same issue, after having the benefit of Dr. Thompson's testimony.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments are clearly substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a).

Publication may be appropriate under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(a) to clarify the application of the law of police coercion of statements to intellectually-limited defendants.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 18AP258-CR (Walworth County Case No. 2014CF215)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN S. FINLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves police questioning of John Finley, whom police were told has the mental capacity of a 12-year-old although he is an adult (R99:27.) He attended Lakeland Special Education school and graduated from there. (R99:64.) According to his aunt, Linda Reed, who is a retired social worker, he is easily manipulated, tends to give into pressure situations, and tells people what they want to hear under stress. (R99:60-64.) When he was younger, he could be convinced of one thing, even if he originally said the opposite. (R9:77-78.) He was afraid and passive and had a weak short-term memory. (R99:63-64.) He needed more than one direction to follow a task and has been bullied all his life. (R99:64.)

Dr. Roland Manos, who preformed a psychological evaluation of Mr. Finley to see if he qualified for Social Security Disability Insurance (R100:3-5), found him to be functioning within the borderline range of intellectual ability with a full scale IQ score of 72, which placed him in the 3rd percentile for intelligence. (R100:5-6.) 97% of the population has a higher IQ score than Mr. Finley does. (R100:18-19.) Dr. Manos found he

had significant, although not disabling, intellectual limitations, including problems with verbal comprehension, working memory, and processing speed. (R100:6.)

Dr. David Thompson, a clinical and forensic psychologist, testified at trial¹ that Mr. Finley is much more compliant and suggestible than a normal person of his age. (R109:61.) Dr. Thompson preformed the Gudjonsson Compliance Test on Mr. Finley in forming his expert opinion. (R109:40.) That test is a commonly-used, reliable, field-accepted, self-report instrument that indicates how likely someone is to follow orders. (R109:44.) The questions in it relate to the willingness of someone to follow orders or to cave in to opposition, although it is designed to appear to be a memory test. (R109:55.) Mr. Finley's scores indicated that he was more compliant that 95% of the population, while the cores from his aunt indicated that he is more compliant than 99% of the populations. (R109:56.)

Dr. Thompson also tested Mr. Finley's listening comprehension and oral expression using the Wechsler Individual Achievement Tests and learned that he had difficulty expressing himself. (R109:46-47.) Although his listening comprehension was in the average range, his oral expression score was in the 2nd Percentile. (R109:57.) Finally, Dr. Thompson administered the Test of Memory Malingering, which suggested that Mr. Finley was not malingering. (R109:49.) Mr. Finley scored well, which meant that he was not trying to fake his memory problems. (R109:60.)

This case began when Mr. Finley's sister took her daughter, C.P., to her regular appointment with her mental health therapist in May of 2014. C.P. has mild autism and had been seeing Jennifer Chellivoid for her behavioral problems and sensory issues for approximately a year. (R108:17-18.) She was socially awkward, did not want to bathe, was defying instructions, and was getting angry. (R107:283.)

That day, C.P.'s mother, in C.P.'s presence, mentioned "a concern"

¹ Dr. Thompson testified at the trial only (see R109:32-166), but the circuit court considered his testimony in deciding the postconviction motion (see R111:36-37).

that C.P. would become angry when her uncle wanted to play with her. (R108:20-21; see also R107:248). In response, Ms. Chellivoid read C.P. a children's book called "How to Keep Yourself Safe." (R108:21.) One of the pages spoke about how not being touched in areas under bathing suits and how adults should not ask children to keep secrets (R108:21.) The therapist then asked C.P. if anyone had ever touched her inappropriately and C.P. said yes. (R108:23). C.P. said her uncle touched her all the time and pointed to her breasts and her vagina (R108:23.) She claimed it occurred when her parents were not home. (R108:24.) Ms. Chellivoid then had a "facilitated discussion" with C.P., told C.P.'s mother, and reported the information to Child Protective Services. (R108:24-25.)

Subsequently, Ms. Chellivoid tried to use Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing therapy ("EDMR") with C.P. (R108:46-49.) The therapy requires many sessions and involves thinking about an intrusive image" as part of the therapy. (R108:46-49.) It ended because C.P. could not come often enough and because of her autism, which made it hard to tell if she was processing properly. (R108:50-51.)

Paula Hocking, who works for the Walworth County Child Advocacy Center, interviewed C.P. after Ms. Chellivoid did. (R107:192-193, 207.) She used the StepWise Protocol, which starts out open-ended and then becomes more direct. (R107:196.) Under the protocol, the child provides information first and then the adult narrows in. (R107:243.)

Dr. Thompson, who testified about C.P.'s disclosures as well as Mr. Finley's suggestibility, was concerned about the repeated discussions with C.P. about the alleged abuse. (R109:69-70.) He noted that her regular therapist, her mother, Ms. Hocking, a doctor, and a school friend all spoke with C.P. about the incident before she testified to it at trial. R109:70. His concern was that repeatedly interviewing a child about something that did not happen can create a false memory of it. (R109:70.) He also was concerned about the number of leading questions used in interviewing C.P. because those types of questions provide false information and suggestion. (R109:71.) For example, he noted that in one interview, after C.P. mentioned having been touched, she was asked if anyone touched her at the new house, which could have suggested that the interviewer

wanted to hear specifically about genital touching at that new house. (R109:71.)

Dr. Thompson called some of these issues "source misattribution errors" in which a person begins to remember something the person has heard about repeatedly. (R109:73.) The problem is that the discussions contaminate memory. (R109:90.) He explained that the EDMR therapy, which required talking repeatedly about being touched, can create a memory of touching where none previously existed. (R109:83.) He also worried that C.P.'s mother, by discussing her concerns about C.P.'s behavior in front of C.P., and C.P.'s therapist, by immediately reading a book about sexual, touching afterwards, could have inadvertently suggested an incident to C.P. (R109:87-88.) In his expert opinion, there were considerable concerns about the reliability of C.P.'s memories and a high risk of source misattribution errors. (R109:95.)

In any event, as a result of C.P.'s claims, Officer Saul Valadez had a conversation with C.P.'s mother in which she told him that her brother, Mr. Finley, had the mental capacity of a twelve-year-old. (R99:27.) The officer and then-Detective Adam Vader Steeg then attempted to locate Mr. Finley to interview him. (R98:21; *see also* R97:5.)

The day after that unsuccessful attempt to locate Mr. Finley, Detective Vander Steeg and Officer Valadez went to his apartment at 8:45 a.m. (R98L21; *see also* R97:5), knowing he was a suspect (R98:26.) The detective was in street clothes, but the officer was in uniform. (R98:12.) After entering the front door of the building, Officer Valadez went down the hallway so he would know if Mr. Finley tried to flee. (R98:12; *see also* R99:30.) Detective Vander Steeg admitted that they would have stopped Mr. Finley if Mr. Finley had tried to leave. (R98:24.)

Mr. Finley's mother, Holly, opened the door and consented to their entry. (R98:13; see also R99:30.) As they came in, Mr. Finley was in the bathroom and the door was closed. (R98:12-13; R99:32.) Mr. Finley crawled out of the bathroom on his hands and knees within a minute or two. (R98:12-13; R99:32.) He crawled four or five feet, got up, and walked into the kitchen with the officers. (R98:14.)

Mr. Finley said he was not feeling good, but Detective Vander Steeg did not remember what his ailment was. (R98:14.) Mr. Finley never vomited or said he was going to do so. (Id.) According to Officer Valadez, Mr. Finley might have mentioned that he had a temperature of 102 degrees in the days before the interview. (R99:33.)

Although she was not directed to leave, Holly went into a back bedroom and the police began interviewing Mr. Finley at the table. (R98:17.) Officer Valadez would later claim that Mr. Finley had adequate communication skills to discuss the allegations and also had some familiarity with being accused of a crime. (R99:16.) Despite having been told of limitations, the officer thought Mr. Finley did not seem to be hallucinating and seemed to understand the questions. (R99:14.) Detective Vander Steeg, who insisted he was not informed of Mr. Finley's cognitive limitations, averred that he would have been able to tell if Mr. Finley were truly cognitively disabled, although the detective also admitted that he did not know how I.Q. numbers work. (R98:26, 44.)

During the interrogation, neither Detective Vander Steeg or Officer Valadez threatened him nor did either of them draw a weapon on him. (R99:17.) They said he was not under arrest and that he could ask them to leave. (R98:46-47; R99:16-17.) All of the questioning was captured on video and the police gave Mr. Finley a glass of water during the interview. (R99:14-15.)

Detective Vander Steeg used a psychological interviewing method called the Reid Technique, which begins with an interview about who, what, where, when, why, and how, and that potentially places the person at the scene of the crime. (R98:27-28.) An interrogation follows which calls people out on errors and focuses on subject areas that the suspect glosses over. (R98:27-28.) A police officer using the technique is looking for deceptive behavior, body language, how people refer to the victims or themselves, and non-verbal cues. (R98:30-33.) He commonly uses "I need your help" as a conversation starter to make sure people talk. (R98:34.)

If suspects respond, as Mr. Finley did, that they "did not do nothing," the police see it as a red flag because the person did not say why

they were there. (R98:35.) The technique involves not taking the suspect's word and a no without an explanation and is considered a flag. (*Id*.:36.) It also involves cutting off denials as was done in this interview. (R98:35.)

Here, for example, there was a discussion of roughhousing and the police said, "I'm assuming your hand or finger went in," but Mr. Finley denied it. (R98:35.) The detective tried to use the word "accident" as a way to get Mr. Finley to admit to the touching and place him at the scene. (R98:35-36.) The police used the word "accident" or "accidentally" 38 times in the interview as part of the technique. (R63:6-9, 11-15, 17-20, 22.) After Mr. Finley confessed he was a little rough with C.P and that he was not supposed to be rough with girls, Detective Vander Steeg talked to him about being a protector of C.P. in order to give Mr. Finley a moral justification for what the detective believed Mr. Finley's illegal actions to be. (R98:37-40.)

According to Detective Vander Steeg, Mr. Finley eventually said that he inserted his finger for 5-10 seconds for the purpose of showing C.P. that she needed to tell him if any boy ever did something like that to her. (R98:47-48.) He made this confession even though C.P. herself had never said that he had inserted his finger. (R98:47-48.) Mr. Finley denied it several times until the police falsely suggested C.P. had said he inserted his finger and that it was disrespectful to her to say otherwise. (R98:47-48.)

In addition, the police played on Mr. Finley's love for his niece, telling him that he would be disrespecting her if he denied sexually assaulting her. (*See* R63:13.)

Mr. Finley asked about a lawyer. (R98:47-48.) According to Detective Vander Steeg, Mr. Finley said either "Am I gonna need a lawyer?" or "Do I need a lawyer?" and Detective Vander Steeg responded, "Well, you're not under arrest. We're just talking, man." (R98:47-48.)

Throughout the interview, detective Vander Steeg and Officer Valadez asked Mr. Finley if he wanted an ambulance, but he did not want one until after he confessed when he seemed more ill. (R98:15.) According to Officer Valadez, Mr. Finley leaned to the side, was embracing his chest and looked like he was shaking. (R99:16.) Officer Valadez thought that behavior typically related to anxiety. (R99:17.) Detective Vander Steeg believed that Mr. Finley had panicked about what he had just said and it seemed to the detective as though Mr. Finley were acting. (R99:16.)

When the ambulance arrived, Mr. Finley was placed inside. (R99:18.) He and Officer Valadez then conferred and Officer Valadez then told Mr. Finley that he was under arrest and read him his *Miranda* rights. (R98:17-18.) Mr. Finley was at the hospital for an hour or two before being transported to the Walworth County Jail. (R98:18.)

ARGUMENT

Mr. Finley is Entitled to a New Trial and to Suppression of His Statement Because His Statement was Not Voluntary.

According to his sister and his aunt, John S. Finley, who attended Lakeland Special Education School while growing up (R99:64), has the mental capacity of a twelve-year-old-child (R99:27, 60-61.) The police knew of his intellectual limitations (R99:27) and used techniques that exploited his deficits to extract a "confession" from him. Coercing someone into confessing violates both the United States and the Wisconsin Constitutions, see In re Jerrell C.J., 2005 WI 105, ¶17, 283 Wis.2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 100, and the United States Supreme Court has emphasized that "mental condition is surely relevant to an individual's susceptibility to police coercion," and is a "significant factor in the 'voluntariness' calculus." Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 164-165 (1986). Given the police use of techniques which were unduly coercive "as applied to this suspect," see Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104, 116 (1985) (emphasis in original), this Court should hold that Mr. Finley's confession was coerced. This Court therefore should vacate the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction motion and should remand the matter to the circuit court with directions to suppress the statements Mr. Finley made to police and grant him a new trial.

The burden of proving that a confession is voluntary is on the state, which must establish it by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Moore*, 2014 WI 54, ¶55, 363 Wis.2d 374, 864 N.W.2d 827. Whether

a confession is voluntary is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Clappes*, 136 Wis.2d 222, 234-35, 401 N.W.2d 759 (1987). This Court therefore independently determines whether the facts meet the constitutional standard, while upholding a circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Samuel*, 2002 WI 34, ¶15, 252 Wis.2d 26, 643 N.W.2d 423.

To be voluntary, a confession must be "the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist." *State v. Hoppe*, 2003 WI 43, ¶36, 261 Wis.2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407. Courts, in determining whether a confession is voluntary under the totality of the circumstances, must weight "the personal characteristics of the confessor" very carefully against "any pressures to which he was subjected to induce the confession." *State v. Verhasselt*, 83 Wis.2d 647, 653-654, 266 N.W.2d 342 (1978).

State action is required before courts may find that a statement is involuntary. *Connelly*, 479 U.S. at 165. Although courts must be able to identify "a substantial element of coercive police conduct" that is "causally related to the confession, " *id.* at 164, "as interrogators have turned to more subtle forms of psychological persuasion, …mental condition" becomes "a more significant factor in the 'voluntariness' calculus." *Id.* (citing *Spano v. New York*, 360 U.S. 315 (1959)).

Moreover, due process does not merely bar admissions resulting from police tactics that are themselves inherently coercive. "It applies equally when the interrogation techniques were improper only because, in the particular circumstances of the case, the confession is unlikely to have been the product of a free and rational will." *Miller v. Fenton*, 474 U.S. at 110.

In determining whether police tactics were coercive, the totality of the circumstances, including all of the general conditions or circumstances controls. *See State v. Davis*, 2008 WI 71, ¶37, 319 Wis.2d 583, 751 N.W.2d 332. Courts consider whether police practices were improper,

courts review "the length of questioning, general conditions or circumstances in which the statement was taken, whether any excessive physical or psychological pressure was used, and whether any inducements, threats, methods, or strategies were utilized in order to elicit a statement from the defendant." *Id.*

In addition, tactics that might be allowed when interrogating an average adult can render a statement involuntary when used on someone with substantial intellectual or mental difficulties. In *Blackburn v. Alabama*, 361 U.S. 199, 204 (1960), for example, sustained interrogation in a small room with multiple officers, the exclusion of the defendant's friends, the absence of counsel, and the composition of the confession by the sheriff resulted in a coerced confession. In holding the confession involuntary, the Court noted that not only was there "the strongest probability that Blackburn was insane and incompetent," but also that the sheriff's tactics were inappropriate *under the circumstances. Id.* at 207-08 (emphasis added).

This sliding scale makes sense, especially as research demonstrates that the cognitively disabled are more predisposed to confess falsely than other adults. "People with intellectual disabilities are disproportionately represented in the reported false confession cases." Steven A. Drizin & Richard A. Leo, The Problem of False Confessions in the Post DNA World, 82 N. C. L. Rev. 891, 920 (2004). They are more vulnerable than other adults to the pressures of interrogation because they think slowly, think concretely rather than abstractly, have short attention spans, often have poor impulse control, and can be highly submissive and compliant. Id. at 918, 920. They also are highly suggestible, easy to manipulate and tend to try to mask their cognitive deficits. Jon B. Gould & Richard A. Leo, One Hundred Years Later, 100 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 825 n. 119 (Summer 2010). Their tendency to look to others for cues on how to act make it easy to get them to agree, especially as many are eager to please. Id. They often are conflict-avoidant and small amounts of stress can overwhelm them. Id.

The evidence demonstrated clearly that Mr. Finley was intellectually disabled and that the police knew he had limitations because

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