RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-09-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP258-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN S. FINLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION MOTION, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DAVID H. PERLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1002730

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Finley's statements to the police were voluntary.

A. Controlling legal principles.

The reviewing court examines the totality of the circumstances to determine if the defendant's statements

were voluntarily given or the product of improper pressures exercised by the police. *State v. Clappes*, 136 Wis. 2d 222, 236, 401 N.W.2d 759 (1987). A defendant's custodial statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will reflecting a deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressure brought to bear on the defendant by the police exceeds the defendant's ability to resist. *State v. Ward*, 2009 WI 60, ¶ 18, 318 Wis. 2d 301, 767 N.W.2d 236. The State bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a confession is voluntary. *State v. Moore*, 2015 WI 54, ¶ 55, 363 Wis. 2d 376, 864 N.W.2d 827.

In order for a court to find a statement involuntary, there must be some evidence of improper police practices deliberately used to procure a confession. *Moore*, 363 Wis. 2d 376, ¶ 56. A suspect's personal characteristics alone cannot form the basis for finding a confession involuntary. *Id.* If the defendant fails to establish that the police engaged in coercive conduct to elicit the confession, the inquiry ends without considering the defendant's characteristics. State Markwardt, 2007 WI App 242, ¶ 29, 306 Wis. 2d 420, 742 N.W.2d 546. In evaluating the police conduct, the court looks at the length of questioning, general conditions or circumstances in which the statement was taken, whether any excessive physical or mental pressures were used, and whether any inducements, threats, methods, or strategies were used to elicit a statement from the defendant. Ward, 318 Wis. 2d 301, ¶ 20.

If there is coercive conduct by the police, the totality of circumstances in a voluntariness analysis balances the characteristics of the suspect against the police tactics used to obtain the statement. *State v. Hoppe*, 2003 WI 43, ¶¶ 38–39, 261 Wis. 2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407. In evaluating a suspect's characteristics courts look at the suspect's age, education, intelligence, physical or emotional condition, and prior

experience with law enforcement. Ward, 318 Wis. 2d 301, ¶ 19.

B. Under the totality of the circumstances, Finley's statements to the police were voluntary.

1. The police did not improperly elicit Finley's statements.

In determining the voluntariness of Finley's statements, the police conduct must first be examined. If this Court concludes the police acted properly, the voluntariness inquiry ends without consideration of Finley's characteristics.

The videotape of Finley's May 20, 2014, police interview reveals that the police, without exception, were cordial, respectful, and non-threatening to Finley. Finley was frequently asked if he was feeling all right, if he wanted an ambulance, and was given water upon his request. Finley was advised that he was not under arrest and that he could end the interview and tell the police to go anytime he wished. The kitchen table interview took only 57 minutes. Neither of the two police officers threatened Finley, made any show of force, or made any promises to him. There was nothing coercive about the interview environment.

Finley points to four police interview strategies, that he claims improperly coerced him to make incriminating statements. First, Finley alleges that the police improperly showed confidence in his guilt when they told him that they knew that the assault had occurred. But this strategy has been validated by this Court. "An officer may express dissatisfaction with a defendant's responses during an interrogation. The officer need not sit by and say nothing when the person provides answers of which the officer is skeptical." *State v. Deets*, 187 Wis. 2d 630, 636, 523 N.W.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1994). Accusing a suspect of lying is not an

improper police tactic. *State v. Owen*, 202 Wis. 2d 620, 642, 551 N.W.2d 50 (Ct. App. 1996). The same is true for expressing a belief that a victim has been truthful in reporting the abuse.

Second, Finley argues that the police wrongfully tried to deceive him with false information. Finley points to the police telling him that C.P. had disclosed that he had placed his finger in her vagina. Putting aside the relevant truth of this assertion, C.P. did claim that on several occasions Finley had rubbed her vagina, police misrepresentations during an interrogation do not make an otherwise voluntary statement involuntary. *State v. Triggs*, 2003 WI App 91, ¶ 1, 264 Wis. 2d 861, 663 N.W.2d 396. And a misrepresentation that relates to a suspect's connection to a crime is the least likely to render a confession involuntary. *Id.* ¶ 19.

Third, Finley claims that the police engaged in improper minimization by attempting to make sexual touching normal and suggesting appear inappropriate contact must have been accidental. But the purpose of a police interview is to get information, and it is common sense that this goal is typically more easily achieved by soft pedaling the import of the information sought. This is particularly so when seeking information about adult sexual activity with a nine-year-old girl. Finley points to no case holding that the use of this technique makes a confession involuntary. And, as mentioned above, the police made no promises of leniency to Finley to induce his statements.

Finally, Finley argues that the police coerced him through the use of complex questions. Finley points to no case where alleged complex questions render a confession involuntary, and his argument is unsupported as a factual matter. Both the videotape and the transcript show the police, in a clear manner, attempting to question Finley about his activities with C.P. Finley never expressed confusion over the questions or the reasons for them. And his answers were

responsive, if not always forthcoming. Finley offered the following exchange to prove his point that his confusion was evidenced by his responses.

Q. Ok. So John [Finley] ah, tell me about um, tell me about you accident[ally] touching her ah, on her private, I know, I mean you, you and I both know that it happened and I know it was a complete accident, that stuff like that happens man, alright so tell tell [sic] me about a time recently when that when that happened.

A. She wanted me to pick her up and there was no way that could get a hold of her you know so I put one arm up like this, you know and then I

(Finley's Br. 14, R. 62:7.)

This excerpt does not show Finley being tricked by complex questioning. The police asked Finley how he might have accidentally touched C.P.'s private parts and he tried to provide an answer. Finley understood the question and his answer was responsive. Finley provides no examples of where he and the police could not communicate effectively.

Neither the interview environment nor the questioning was coercive. Thus, in order to show police misconduct Finley asserts that the questioning methods, while appropriate for some, were improper for him because he has the mental capabilities of a twelve year old, an IQ of 72. In other words Finley is asking this Court to find that the police knowingly exploited his lack of intellect by asking questions that applied pressures he could not resist. This contention is wrong on three counts.

First, Finley is suggesting that the police should have a different set of interview techniques for every subject, depending on their IQ. It is both illogical and impractical for the police to desist employment of time-honored and court-tested interview methodologies for intellectually slower

subjects. And it would be impossible to set a clear line of demarcation where reasonable questioning techniques morph into unreasonable coercion, based on the defendant's acumen.

Second, Finley improperly conflates a personal characteristic, his intelligence, into the police misconduct analysis. Finley's intellectual limitations in dealing with police questioning only comes into play in a voluntariness analysis if the police were improperly coercive. Here, there was nothing in the interview that was improper, nothing coercively designed to break Finley's will to resist. Finley's intellectual limitations might be fair game in a reliability analysis, but not in a voluntariness one, when there is no police misconduct. And reliability, as the trial court aptly noted, is "something for the -- ultimately the jury to decide." (R. 102:52.)

Third, and most significantly, Finley's core claim is untrue. He was able to resist police questioning, and did so on several occasions. The police first suggested that the sexual conduct might have been accidental, but when they later sought to move the narrative from accidental to intentional, Finley resisted. (R. 62:19–20.) When the police suggested that Finley might have had some sexual satisfaction over the contact, he denied it. (R. 62:17–18.) Indeed, even after agreeing that he did touch her vagina, Finley claimed he did so to show her what she should not allow boys to do. (R. 62:28.) When the police suggested that he kissed C.P., Finley said no. (R. 62:28–29.) When the police suggested that the sexual contact might have taken about a minute, Finley claimed it was only for five to ten seconds. (R. 62:27.) And Finley only admitted to one contact, though the police were aware that C.P. had disclosed that there had been several assaults. (R. 62:25.) The police did not apply improper pressure as was clearly evidenced by Finley's frequent resistance to their attempts to garner more incriminating information.

2. Finley's personal characteristics did not make him unfairly vulnerable to the police questioning.

The totality of circumstances show that the police did not engage in improper or coercive methods to elicit Finley's statements. Thus, the voluntariness inquiry should end in the State's favor without consideration of Finley's characteristics. But if this Court has any question about the police interrogation methods, an examination of Finley's personal characteristics reinforces the validity of his admissions.

While Finley has intellectual limitations, his 72 IQ says nothing about his will to resist questioning or what pressures would overbear his will. As discussed above, Finley was quite capable of holding his ground with the police on several points: the amount of sexual contacts, and the extent, duration, and motivation for the contact. And when the police arrested Finley and read him his rights, he had the ability to exercise his right to refuse to talk to the police. (R. 62:31–32.) Despite his IQ, Finley had a driver's license, had lived on his own, once had a live-in girlfriend, and had held jobs. (R. 109:279–281.) Though he is not bright, Finley's intellect did not prevent him from resisting police pressures.

Finley had previous experience with the criminal justice system. While the record is silent as to whether Finley had ever been interviewed by the police before, his prior convictions show that he had familiarity with being accused of criminal activity. And the convictions were for similar activity as what is at issue here: conviction for third-degree sexual assault, and a conviction for sex with a child 16 or over. (R. 74:4.)

Finley was 36 years old at the time of the interview. He complained occasionally of not feeling well but never asked for the interview to stop or the police to leave, though he was advised that he could do so. Only after making his admission

did Finley's physical complaints reach the point where the interview was halted and an ambulance called. There is nothing in the record showing what was exactly wrong with Finley and no medical testimony as to his being too ill to be interviewed. And there is no evidence during the interview that illness prevented him from effectively communicating with the police.

The police engaged in no improper coercive actions in dealing with Finley. And Finley was qualified to handle police questioning without yielding to pressure. Indeed, he frequently resisted police attempts to expand on his admissions, acting as a man trying to minimize his actions. Under the totality of the circumstances the State has showed by a preponderance of the evidence that Finley's statements were voluntary.

II. If improper, the admission of Finley's statements to the police was harmless error.

The circuit court did not err in holding that Finley's statements were voluntarily rendered and properly admitted at trial. But, assuming arguendo that the statement should not have been admitted, any error was harmless.

A. Applicable law.

The State, as the beneficiary of an error, bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless. *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, ¶ 22, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999). The harmless error doctrine is applicable to the admission of an involuntary confession at trial. *State v. Childs*, 146 Wis. 2d 116, 125–26, 430 N.W.2d 353 (Ct. App. 1988).

"The test for harmless error is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." *State v. Thoms*, 228 Wis. 2d 868, 873, 599 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1999). An otherwise valid conviction should not

be set aside if a reviewing court can confidently find that, on the whole record, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Nelson*, 2014 WI 70, \P 28, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317.

B. Even without Finley's statements, there is no reasonable doubt that the jury would have reached a different verdict.

At trial, the jury was presented with substantial evidence pointing to Finley's guilt, without consideration of his statements. The jury saw C.P.'s videotaped forensic interview with Ms. Hocking. And C.P. also appeared in person at the trial for Finley's cross examination. Hocking testified as to C.P.'s interview, the techniques employed and her professional impressions.

Finley argues that C.P.'s testimony, both through her taped interview and personal appearance at trial, would have been insufficient to support a conviction. Finley argues that the jury could have been potentially bothered by C.P.'s lack of injury, and the fact that she did not immediately report the abuse. But Finley ignores the fact that Dr. Lynn Sheets, an experienced board-certified child abuse pediatrician testified as to why it is not uncommon for a sexual assault victim not to have any injuries or to delay coming forward with her disclosure. (R. 111:28–30.)

Finley did not testify at trial. Dr. Thompson did testify for the defense and opined that he had reservations about the reliability of both C.P.'s forensic interview and Finley's statements to the police. One presumes that if Finley's statements had not been admitted, Dr. Thompson would still have testified as to C.P.'s reliability. It is clear that the jury was not too terribly impressed with Dr. Thompson's opinions as it returned a guilty verdict in less than two hours, and some of that time was spent re-watching C.P.'s taped interview.

To be sure, it beggars belief to suggest that Finley's taped statement was not probative. But that is not the harmless error test. Here, guilt beyond a reasonable doubt was proven without Finley's statements. That it is proven even more beyond a reasonable doubt with Finley's statements is not a basis for setting aside the conviction. And it is clear that the jury was not too preoccupied with Finley's statements. During deliberation, they asked only to see C.P.'s statement, and they ultimately convicted Finley of repeated sexual assaults, when in his statement he only admitted to one five to ten second contact, without any sexual motivation.

C.P. testified that Finley had perpetrated several sexual assaults in several locations. She appeared at trial, and did not in any way retreat from these disclosures. She testified that she had to come forward as it hurt her to keep things bottled inside. Highly trained and experienced professionals in the child abuse field described to the jury their contacts with C.P. and their understanding of child sexual abuse dynamics. Against this evidence, Finley had the testimony of Dr. Thompson, who never met C.P., questioning the reliability of the forensic examination. And Dr. Thompson did concede that he could not tell the jury that C.P. was mistaken when she reported the sexual contact. (R. 111:166.)

Without Finley's statements, there is no reasonable possibility that the jury would have reached a different verdict. If it was error to admit Finley's statements in evidence, it was harmless error.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State asks this Court to affirm the trial court's judgment of conviction.